Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2015) 149: 325–357 DOI 10.1007/10\_2015\_323 © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 Published Online: 20 March 2015

# **Rheology of Lignocellulose Suspensions and Impact of Hydrolysis: A Review**

Tien Cuong Nguyen, Dominique Anne-Archard and Luc Fillaudeau

Abstract White biotechnologies have several challenges to overcome in order to become a viable industrial process. Achieving highly concentrated lignocellulose materials and releasing fermentable substrates, with controlled kinetics in order to regulate micro-organism activity, present major technical and scientific bottlenecks. The degradation of the main polymeric fractions of lignocellulose into simpler molecules is a prerequisite for an integrated utilisation of this resource in a biorefinery concept. The characterisation methods and the observations developed for rheology, morphology, etc., that are reviewed here are strongly dependent on the fibrous nature of lignocellulose, are thus similar or constitute a good approach to filamentous culture broths. This review focuses on scientific works related to the study of the rheological behaviour of lignocellulose suspensions and their evolution during biocatalysis. In order to produce the targeted molecules (synthon), the lignocellulose substrates are converted by enzymatic degradation and are then metabolised by micro-organisms. The dynamics of the mechanisms is limited by coupled phenomena between flow, heat and mass transfers in regard to diffusion (within solid and liquid phases), convection (mixing, transfer coefficients, homogeneity) and specific inhibitors (concentration gradients). As lignocellulose suspensions consist of long entangled fibres for the matrix of industrial interest, they exhibit diverse and complex properties linked to this fibrous character (rheological, morphological, thermal, mechanical and biochemical parameters). Among the main variables to be studied, the rheological behaviour of such suspensions appears to be determinant for process efficiency. It is this behaviour that will determine the

T.C. Nguyen · L. Fillaudeau (⊠)

Laboratoire d'Ingénierie des Systèmes Biologiques et des Procédés,

Université de Toulouse; INSA; INRA UMR792, CNRS UMR5504, Toulouse, France

e-mail: lfillaud@insa-toulouse.fr

D. Anne-Archard Université de Toulouse, IMFT (Institut de Mécanique des Fluides de Toulouse), Allée Camille Soula, 31400 Toulouse, France

T.C. Nguyen · D. Anne-Archard · L. Fillaudeau CNRS, Fédération de Recherche FERMAT (FR 3089), 2 Allée Camille Soula Toulouse, France equipment to be used and the strategies applied (substrate and biocatalysis feed, mixing, etc.). This review provides an overview of (i) the rheological behaviour of fibrous materials in suspension, (ii) the methods and experimental conditions for their measurements, (iii) the main models used and (iv) their evolution during biocatalytic reactions with a focus on enzymatic hydrolysis.

**Keywords** Fibre suspension • Hydrolysis • Lignocellulose • Paper pulp • Rheology • Viscosity • Yield stress

## Nomenclatures

## Abbreviation

- BAG Sugarcane bagasse
- CoSt Corn stover
- MCC Microcrystalline cellulose
- MFC Microfibril cellulose
- NCC Nanocrystalline cellulose
- PP Paper pulp
- RVA Rapid viscosity analyser
- WhSt Wheat straw
- WP Whatman paper

# **Greek Letters**

- $\dot{\gamma}$  Shear rate (s<sup>-1</sup>)
- $\dot{\gamma}^*$  Complex shear rate (s<sup>-1</sup>)
- $\phi$  Volume fraction (/)
- $\phi_{\rm c}$  Critical volume fraction (/)
- $\phi_{\rm m}$  Maximum volume fraction (/)
- $\phi_{\text{eff}}$  Effective volume fraction (/)
- $[\mu]$  Intrinsic viscosity (/)
- $\rho$  Density (kg m<sup>-3</sup>)
- $\rho_{\rm s}$  Substrate density (kg m<sup>-3</sup>)
- $\mu$  Viscosity (Pa s)
- $\mu_0$  Initial viscosity (Pa s)
- $\mu_{\infty}$  Final viscosity (Pa s)
- $\mu_{s}$  Suspending viscosity (Pa s)
- $\mu_{rel}$  Relative viscosity (/)
- $\tau$  Shear stress (Pa)
- $\tau_0$  Yield stress (Pa)
- $\xi$  Ionisation energy (mV)

# Latin Letters

- C\* Critical substrate concentration (gdm  $L^{-1}$ )
- Cm Mass concentration (gdm  $L^{-1}$ )

- CrI Crystallinity (%)
- d Particle diameter (m)
- d<sub>4,3</sub> Volume mean diameter (m)
- *n* Power-law index (/)
- $K_p$  Power constant (/)
- $K_s$  Metzner-Otto coefficient (/)
- k Consistency index (Pa  $s^n$ )
- $k_c$  Cosson constant (Pa<sup>1/2</sup> s<sup>1/2</sup>)
- $N_p$  Power number (/)
- $N_{po}$  Power number in turbulent flow (/)
- Re Reynolds number (/)
- Reg Generalised Reynolds number (/)
- Re\* Rieger and Novak Reynolds (/)
- G' Elastic modulus (Pa)
- G" Viscous modulus (Pa)
- G\* Complex modulus (Pa)
- *N* Mixing rate (round per second)
- *P* Power consumption (W)

# Contents

1	Introduction	327		
2	Lignocellulose: Nature and Characterisation	330		
	2.1 Physical Characterisation of Fibres	331		
	2.2 Rheological Characterisation of Suspensions	335		
3	Rheological Behaviour of Lignocellulose Suspensions	340		
	3.1 Overview of Classical Models			
	3.2 Observed Rheological Behaviour	343		
	3.3 Structure and Consistency Index	345		
	3.4 Yield Stress and Oscillatory Measurements	347		
4	Physical Properties of Fibre and Suspension During Enzymatic Hydrolysis	350		
5	Conclusion	352		
Ret	ferences	353		

# **1** Introduction

For a number of years now, environmental preoccupations and energy control are at the heart of scientific and social debate. Behind the increase of energy consumption, and the depletion of fossil fuel resources, the developments of biorefineries and industrial biotechnology in general are of the greatest importance to make concrete the vision of an economy based on bioresources. The important role of white biotechnology is to replace petro-derived chemicals by those produced from biomass. The main biomass resources include short rotation forestry (willow, poplar, eucalyptus), wood-based industries (pulp and paper industry, forest residues, sawmill and construction/industrial residues, etc.), sugar crops (sugar beet, sweet sorghum), starch crops (maize, wheat, Jerusalem artichoke, etc.), herbaceous lignocellulosic crops (miscanthus), oil crops (rapeseed, sunflower), agricultural waste (straw, slurry), municipal solid waste and refuse, and industrial waste (residues from food industry). These fractions can be used directly as desired biochemical or can be converted by thermal, mechanical, chemical, enzymatic and/or microbial approaches. Among these large users of lignocellulosic resources, the pulp and paper industry holds a strategic position. Pulp and paper industry [1] is able to provide a tried and tested industrial model for the processing of lignocellulosic biomass into pre-treated cellulose pulps. The pulp product of this industry is appropriate for modern biorefining, because it displays low lignin content, is free of inhibitory compounds that can perturb fermentations and is devoid of microbial contaminants. Cellulose biomass thus provides an abundant low-cost resource that has the potential to support large-scale production of fuels and chemicals via biotechnological routes [2].

The first hydrolysis methods used were chemical, but they are less competitive at the moment, because of the cost of reagents and the formation of numerous byproducts and inhibitory compounds. They are now challenged by enzymatic methods, which allow more specific hydrolysis at higher yields and in less severe



**Fig. 1** Various configurations of biologically mediated processing steps during the biocatalytic conversion of lignocellulose and highlight on hydrolysis step with and without interaction with cell cultures. Abbreviations: separate hydrolysis and fermentation (*SHF*), separate hydrolysis and co-fermentation (*SHCF*), simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (*SSF*), simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (*SSCF*), and consolidated bioprocessing (*CBP*)

conditions [3]. An enzyme-based process can be divided into four principal steps (Fig. 1): (1) pre-treatment: due to the recalcitrant nature of native lignocelluloses, physical/chemical methods must be applied to generate an enzymatically convertible material; (2) enzymatic hydrolysis: where the cellulose and hemicelluloses are enzymatically degraded into sugar monomers; (3) fermentation: sugar monomers are converted into target molecules, often by yeast; and (4) distillation: to recover products [4–6]. In order to produce sugars, biomass is pre-treated with physical and/ or thermo-chemical and possibly biological methods to reduce the size of the feedstock and to open up the plant structure. The cellulose and the hemicellulose portions are broken down (hydrolysed) by enzymes to yield simple sugars that are then fermented into target products by specific strains of micro-organisms. Currently, this biochemical route is the most commonly used [7].

To convert lignocellulose biomass into molecules of interest, the key steps focus on the pre-treatment technique and the conversion into fermentable sugars. The major challenges for cellulose-based products concern cost reduction for production, harvest, transportation and upfront processing in order to make cellulose-based products competitive with grain-based products [8]. Therefore, a better scientific understanding and ultimately technical control of these critical biocatalytic reactions, which involve complex matrices and high solids content, are currently the major challenges that must be won if biorefining operations are to become commonplace. Among the main parameters studied, the rheological behaviour of the hydrolysis suspension and the morphology and size of fibres stand out as major determinants of process efficiency and determine the equipment to be used and the strategies to be applied [9]. Indeed, suspensions exhibit a very wide range of rheological behaviour, and numerous examples can be found to illustrate shearthinning/shear-thickening behaviour, viscoplasticity with observation of yield stress, elasticity or thixotropy. A lot of parameters influence the nature and the intensity of these non-Newtonian characteristics: the concentration, the particle size and the morphology of the objects, the nature and the magnitude of the particle interactions, etc. Many industries, especially when bioprocesses are involved, are confronted with these behaviours which can sometimes drastically affect hydrodynamics and transfer efficiency (mass or/and heat). It is then of crucial interest to explore the rheology of the suspension to ensure optimal process implementation and the right choice of equipment [10]. It requires a thorough knowledge of the rheological behaviour of the substrate suspensions.

These suspensions, after or simultaneously with hydrolysis, are converted into target molecules by various micro-organisms whether prokaryotes or eukaryotes. The physico-bio-chemical complexities of the broth resulting from these multiphase and dynamic media lead to additional complexity compounded by the fibrous morphology. The rheological behaviour is sensitive to multifactorial parameters (medium compositions, molecules produced, morphology and physiology of the micro-organisms present). Considering flow properties of suspensions, strong analogies between the growth of filamentous fungus cultures [11] and hydrolysis of complex lignocellulose matrices can be made concerning the rheological behaviour, hydrodynamics and transfers (definition of significant morphological criteria,

impact of concentration and morphology, main rheological parameters: shearthinning behaviour, yield stress). In this paper, the methods and the models related to the rheological behaviour of complex lignocellulosic suspensions are similar to or adapted from filamentous micro-organism suspensions. For simultaneous or consolidated bioprocesses, a good knowledge of the physico-bio-chemical properties of suspensions (lignocellulose materials, micro-organisms) is required to define accurate operating conditions (transfer efficiency) for substrate release kinetics (biocatalytic hydrolysis) and micro-organism metabolism (growth, production) kinetics.

A database interrogation was conducted to highlight scientific production focusing on "lignocellulosic materials, flow properties and biocatalytic degradation" for the last 40 years. In this aim, four specific profiles were defined:

- Profile 1: (Rheo\* OR visco\* OR newt\*) AND (suspension\* OR dissolution\*) AND cellulose\*
- Profile 2: (Rheol\* OR visco\*) AND fiber\* AND cellulose\*
- Profile 3: (Rheol\* OR visco\*) AND (paper pulp\* OR pulp suspension\*)
- Profile 4: Bioproce\*

(\* stands for truncation option, i.e.: visco\* stands for viscosity, viscosimetry, viscous...).

The first and second profiles focus on the rheological behaviour of cellulose/fibre suspensions. The third one scrutinises specifically the pulp and paper industry, while the last one describes the global trends in biotechnological process. Figure 2 presents the chronological progression for these profiles with the number of publications per year. We observed a regular and remarkable increase since 1990 for all these profiles. This tendency is a medium-term consequence of the successive petroleum crises in the seventies. It is noticeable that the interest for the rheological behaviour of potential substrates/suspensions for second-generation biofuels has increased in the same way as research and developments in bioprocessing.

To carry out an overview of lignocellulose suspension rheology and its evolution during hydrolysis, the different published results reporting the methods of investigation and the results obtained (rheological behaviour and its relationship with different physical parameters: particle size, mechanical properties of fibre) are presented.

#### 2 Lignocellulose: Nature and Characterisation

Considering rheological behaviour, the scientific publications simultaneously investigating physical properties and biochemical composition during suspension and/or hydrolysis have been extracted and are reported in Table 1. It is noticeable that this extraction leads to a restricted number of publications and limited information. Physical and biochemical properties are defined by particle diameter, aspect ratio, density, crystallinity, surface properties and biochemical compositions but are rarely integrally reported. Various substrates were studied and could be classified



**Fig. 2** Number of publications per year since 1978 (Profile 1: (Rheo\* OR visco\* OR newt\*) AND (suspension\* OR dissolution\*) AND cellulose\*; Profile 2: (Rheol\* OR visco\*) AND fiber\* AND cellulose\*; Profile 3: (Rheol\* OR visco\*) AND (paper pulp\* OR pulp suspension\*); Profile 4: Bioproce\*)

into two groups: cellulose (simple matrices) and lignocellulose (complex matrices). Cellulose matrices are mainly nanocrystalline, microcrystalline and microfibril cellulose (NCC, MCC and MFC) with diameters ranging from 0.1  $\mu$ m for NCC up to 100  $\mu$ m for MCC. For complex matrices, a great variety of lignocellulosic substrates are derived from woody materials or by-products of agriculture (softwood pulp, hardwood pulp, wood powder, corn stover, bagasse sugarcane, paper). Such complex matrices have been processed with specific pre-treatments which confer various and singular characteristics with a strong influence of the fibrous morphology. These critical physical properties were unequally reported although they make a significant contribution to the rheological behaviour of the suspension.

## 2.1 Physical Characterisation of Fibres

Among the main parameters to be studied, the rheological behaviour of the hydrolysis suspension and the fibre size and morphology stand out as major determinants of the process efficiency. They are the key elements for the choice of the equipment and the feeding/hydrolysis strategy. However, numerous other parameters related to fibre affect bioprocess performances:

Matrices	Publication	Study operat	ions	Physical propert	ies				Biochen	nical com	positions		
		Suspension	Hydrolysis	$d_{m \ (\mu m)}$	A. ratio	$\rho$ (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	ζ (mV)	CrI	$\% d_m$	Cellu.	Hemi.	Lig.	Ash
NCC	Araki et al. [12]	x	I	$0.18\pm0.075$	$51 \pm 21$	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1
NCC	Boluk et al. [13]	x	I	$0.18\pm0.06$	$30 \pm 14$	I	-62.8	I	I	I	I	I	
NCC	Gonzalez-Labrada and Gray [14]	×	I	0.117	29	I	-47	I	I	I	I	I	1
NCC	Lu et al. [15]	x	I	0.87	5.4	1560	-58	I	I	I	I	I	1
MCC	Luukkonen et al. [16]	х	I	60	I	I	I	I	I	98	0	0	2
MCC	Tatsumi et al. [17]	х	I	0.72–350	21-450	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I
MCC	Bayod et al. [18]	x	I	30-35	1.5-7	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1
MCC	Horvath and Lindstrom [19]	×	1	20–30	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1	1
MCC	Um and Hanley [20]	x	x	91	I	I	I	I	I	88	I	1	.
MCC	Tatsumi et al. [21]	x	I	1.7	22	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1
MCC	Tozzi et al. [22]	×	1	24-27	I	I	I	I	90- 92	68– 72	7–7.8	4-5	0.15
MFC	Lowys et al. [23]	х	I	I	I	I	-20	I	I	85	11	0	4
MFC	Agoda-Tandjawa et al. [24]	x	1	10	80-500	1	I	$\frac{11-}{13}$	I	93	I	1	3.6
MFC	Saarikoski et al. [25]	x	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1
												(contir	(pənu

Table 1 Scientific publications linked to rheology, physico-chemical characterisations of lignocellulosic matrices and enzymatic hydrolysis

Cellulose

-
e
q
La

	Matrices	Publication	Study operati	ions	Physical properti	ies				Biochem	ical comp	ositions		
			Suspension	Hydrolysis	$d_{m \ (\mu m)}$	A. ratio	ρ (kg/m <sup>3</sup> )	ζ (mV)	CrI	$\% d_m$	Cellu.	Hemi.	Lig.	Ash
Lignocellulose	BAG	Geddes et al. [26]	x	x	$(25-50) \times 10^{3}$	I	1	I	I	1	38	28	1	I
materials	BAG	Pereira et al. [27]	1	x	<2000	I	1420	I	I	1	43.6	8.75	33.75	I
	CoSt	Pimenova and Hanley [28]	x	1	120	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	I
	CoSt	Stickel et al. [29]	x	I	100	1–20		1	1	1	1		1	
	CoSt	Viamajala et al. [30]	x	1				I	1	93.5	33.2	21.6	1	
	CoSt	Dunaway et al. [31]	x	х	-	I	_	I	I		60	5	32	3
	CoSt	Dibble et al. [32]	x	х	80-680	I	1	I	1	I	42-	4.0-	18-	1
											60	24	26	
	WP	Samaniuk et al. [33]	x	x	600	I	I	I	I	100	66	I	I	I
	CoSt		x	x	3000	I	1	I	I	100	50	1	-	I
	ΡΡ	Damani et al. [34]	x	1	1180/1290	I	356/538	I	I	1	1	1		I
	ΡΡ	Chen et al. [35]	x	I	30/15	107/73	I	I	I	1	I	I	1	I
	ΡΡ	Blanco et al. [36]	x	-	1000	1	1	I	I					I
	Ы	Derakhshandeh et al. [37]	x	I	670–2960	I	1	I		Į	I	I	1	I
	ЬР	Le Moigne et al. [38]	1	x	1	1		I	46-	1	90- 712	2-3.5	1.1-	
	}								44		74./		0.1	
	Ы	Chaussy et al. [39]	x	I	1280	1	1	1	I	1	1	1	1	
	ЬЬ	Wiman et al. [9]	х	х	188	I	1	I	I	13	48	3.2	45	1
	WhSt	Szijarto et al. [40]	Ι	x	I	I	I	I	I	34	58.9	I	I	I
	Wood	Dasari and Berson [41]	x	x	33-850	I	I	I	I	1	39.7	19.8	1	1
	Wood	Palmqvist and Liden	I	x	<10,000	I	1	I	I	36.5/	50.2/	I	36.8/	I
		[42]								12.7	42.9		46	
VICC non commence	and million of	MCC minerometerlline 2010	Pulses, MEC ~	uller lindfordin	DD source DD	DVD refe	and anonan		10 00000	MI	Ce unhant	(action)		

NCC nanocrystalline cellulose; MCC microcrystalline cellulose; MFC microfibril cellulose; PP paper pulp; BAG sugarcane bagasse; CoSt corn stover; WhSt wheat stover)

- Dimensions (equivalent diameter, thickness),
- Qualitative granulometry: sawdust and coarse particles (buchettes), short and long fibres, and flours,
- Morphology and specific surface areas (aspect ratio, complex shape factor: curvature, waviness and wrinkling),
- Mechanical properties (elastic modulus, tensile yield strength and ultimate elongation),
- Surface properties with electrostatic and non-electrostatic forces (Zeta potential, hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity, interfacial surface energy),
- Density (humid and intrinsic density) and porosity,
- Degree of lignification (correlated to the Kappa index in the pulp and paper industry) and crystallinity.
- Molecular mass, degree of polymerisation

There are various ways to define the size of a particle as a "diameter." Allen [43] listed thirteen possible ways to define an equivalent diameter for a given particle using the sphere as reference. Each definition of an "equivalent diameter" should give the same result when applied to spheres (i.e. diameter). Therefore, most of the particles are not spherical; the knowledge of more than one dimension is required to describe the shape of a particle and the associated distribution. The most useful diameter is the diameter of the volume equivalent sphere,  $d_v$ , which corresponds to the diameter of the sphere having the same volume. For irregular shapes, the magnitude of the equivalent diameter is affected by the measurement methods, which must then be selected with a particular care.

Because of the non-uniform size of particles, variations in a population are described by a size distribution. Frequency distributions or cumulative distributions are conventionally used. Many characterising techniques (microscopy, settling velocity, granulometry, morphometry, diffraction light scattering and focus beam reflectance) give distributions based on the number, length, surface area or volume of the particles. Considering the complexity of particle shapes and according to the properties highlighted, it is important to define a mean diameter (and standard deviation describing the width of the distribution around this average trend) for a given particle population. For instance, average diameters are defined as follows:

$$d_{p,q} = \left[\frac{\sum n_i \cdot d_i^p}{\sum n_i \cdot d_i^q}\right]^{1/p-q} \tag{1}$$

with  $n_i$  is the number of particles of diameter  $d_i$ , and p and q are the integers  $(p = q + 1 \text{ with } q = 0, 1, 2, 3 \text{ for number weighted, length weighted, surface weighted and volume weighted, respectively) [44]. With these notations, <math>d_{1,0}$  is the number-average diameter,  $d_{2,0}$  is the quadratic mean diameter,  $d_{3,0}$  is the cube average diameter,  $d_{4,3}$  is the mass or volume mean diameter, and  $d_{3,2}$  is the area-average diameter.

#### 2.2 Rheological Characterisation of Suspensions

Presenting an overview of the scientific literature, this chapter deals with (i) rheometry devices and set-ups for rheological characterisation of lignocellulose suspensions and (ii) rheological behaviour analysis.

#### 2.2.1 Rheological Measurement Devices

Several approaches are suitable for rheological characterisation, and numerous examples of each can be found in the literature concerned with cellulose/lignocellulose suspensions. This is illustrated by studies listed in Table 2. These methods can be classified as a function of device complexity and associated methodologies. The cheapest and easiest-to-use viscometers, i.e. the capillary viscometer and the falling (or rolling) ball viscometer, are suitable for Newtonian fluids but are somewhat difficult to use with unknown non-Newtonian fluids. Their applicability is reduced for fibre suspensions. The works of Luukkonen et al. [16] and of Gonzalez-Labrada and Gray [14] on nano- and microcrystalline cellulose can be mentioned. Fine rheometry analysis was reported by Tozzi et al. [22] using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to determine the velocity field in a portion of a cylindrical duct. Completed by the measurement of the pressure drop, the velocity profile brings information on the nature and the characteristics of the fluid. However, this technique is of academic interest but hard to expand to industrial contexts.

The very classical and quite suitable way to obtain rheological characterisation (mostly viscosity, but not only) is the use of rheometers or viscometers equipped with cone and plate, narrow-gap coaxial cylinders or parallel plates. The flow generated is then a simple shearing flow with, except for the parallel plates, a constant shear rate all over the fluid. The shear rate  $\dot{\gamma}$  and the shear stress  $\tau$  are calculated from the rotation frequency and the torque, respectively, and from the characteristics of the geometry. The large-gap coaxial cylinders, which are frequently used in industry, can be considered separately among viscometers as, with a large gap, no assumptions as to the velocity profile can be made (the fluid's rheological characteristics must be known for that). The raw data cannot then be exploited as simply as in the Newtonian case [45, 46]. Coming back to the usual geometries for rheometers and viscometers, they usually require a small volume of fluid, but this advantage turns into a drawback when the size of the objects in suspension is not negligible when compared to a characteristic dimension of the geometry (for instance, a usual gap for parallel plates or concentric cylinders is around 1 mm and is lower for cone and plate geometries). To obtain values of the viscosity from the global measurements performed on a rheometer (torque and angular velocity), the fluid must indeed be considered as a homogeneous medium. It must be borne in mind that this assumption can become erroneous when suspensions are studied.

To overcome this difficulty, the mixing system (MS) of a process, when it exists, can be used as a rheometer, measuring the torque and the rotation rate (or

Authors	Measurement system and mode	Quantities measured
Bennington et al. [45]	Rheometer/concentric cylinders	$\tau_0$ (viscometry)
Damani et al. [34]	Rheometer/parallel plate	G', G"
Araki et al. [12]	Viscometer/double-gap cylinders	$\mu$
Swerin [46]	Rheometer/concentric cylinders	G', G"
Wikström	Rheometer/Rushton-type turbine	$\tau_{\rm y}$ (viscometry)
et al. [47]		
Tatsumi et al. [48]	Rheometer/cone plate	$\tau$ and G', G"
Lowys et al. [23]	Rheometer/cone plate and parallel plates	$\mu$ , $\tau_0$ and G', G"
Luukkonen et al. [16]	Capillary viscometer	μ
Tatsumi et al. [17]	Rheometer/parallel plates	$\mu_{\tau}$ $\tau_0$ and G'. G"
Chen et al. [35]	Rheometer/parallel plates	
Pimenova and	Viscometer/cone plate and double	
Hanley [28]	helical ribbon	<i>µ</i> , •0
Bayod et al. [18]	Rheometer/concentric cylinder	μ
Ein-Mozaffari	Viscometer/four-bladed vane	$\tau_0$ (viscometry)
et al. [49]		
Dasari and	Rheometer/six-bladed vane	μ
Berson [41]		
Blanco et al. [36]	Mixing system/various mobiles	Torque
Horvath and Lindstrom [19]	Rheometer/parallel plates	$\tau_0$ (oscillations), G', G"
Stickel et al. [29]	Comparison of different methods	$\tau_0$
Knutsen and Liberatore [50]	Rheometer/four-bladed vane (narrow gap)	$\tau_0$ (viscometry), G', G"
Agoda-Tandjawa et al. [24]	Rheometer/parallel plates	$\mu$ and G', G"
Derakhshandeh et al. [37]	Viscometer/four-bladed vane + UD velocimetry	$\mu, \tau_0$ (viscometry + velocimetry)
Chaussy et al. [39]	Industrial disc refiner	μ
Samaniuk et al. [33]	Mixing system/counter-rotating screw elements	Torque
Wiman et al. [9]	Rheometer/four-bladed vane	$\mu$ and G', G"
Gonzalez-Labrada	Rolling ball viscometer	u u
and Gray [14]		
Saarikoski et al. [25]	Rheometer/concentric cylinder	G', G"
Nguyen et al. [51]	Rheometer/Serrated plates + Mixing system/four-pitched-blade turbine	$\mu$ and G', G", Torque
Mohtaschemi et al. [52]	Viscometer/four-bladed vane	$\mu, \tau_0$
Tozzi et al. [22]	Poiseuille flow + MRI velocimetry	μ

Table 2 Rheological characterisation of cellulose/lignocellulose suspensions, overview of methodologies used and quantities measured

equivalently the power consumption and the rotation rate), but the difficulty here lies in the complex flow field generated [53]. Determination of viscosity then relies on the previous determination of the power number—Reynolds number characteristic curve of the MS, where the power number Np is a dimensionless number linked to power consumption. This single master curve depends only on impeller/reactor shape and geometry. In the laminar regime (Re < 10–100), the product  $N_p$  · Re is a constant, named Kp, and a deviation from  $N_p \cdot \text{Re} = K_p$  indicates the end of the laminar regime. In fully turbulent flow ( $\text{Re} > 10^4 - 10^5$ ) and for Newtonian fluids, the dimensionless power number  $N_p$  is assumed to be independent of mixing Reynolds number and equal to a constant,  $Np_0$ . Knowing  $N_p$  gives a value of the Reynolds number and an estimation of the viscosity if the fluid is a Newtonian one, and of an equivalent viscosity if the fluid is non-Newtonian. In this last case, interpretation of the rotation frequency and power consumption measurements requires an additional hypothesis that was first proposed by Metzner and Otto [54]. These authors showed that for a large range of shear-thinning fluids represented by a power-law model  $(\tau = k\dot{\gamma}^n)$ , the equivalent shear rate corresponding to the equivalent viscosity is proportional to the rotation frequency via a  $K_s$  coefficient (known as the Metzner-Otto coefficient). In addition, the  $K_s$  coefficient depends only on the mixing system characteristics. It is thus sufficient to determine it in a preliminary stage by considering Metzner and Otto's concept [54] or Rieger and Novak's approach [55] based on the generalised Reynolds number, Re\* assuming  $N_p \cdot \text{Re}^* = K_p(n)$ . In restricted cases, coefficient  $K_s$  can be extended to the transition region using a power equation [56]. This online viscosimetry method has been widely used [33, 51, 57, 58]. Note that such a device gives only the viscosity that is to say the shear-thinning/shearthickening character of the fluid. Nevertheless, such rheometrical measurement systems are attractive as (i) they avoid suspension settling problems (with suitable geometry); (ii) because of the complex flow generated, they elude migration of particles/fibres which are responsible for heterogeneity in the fluid volume; (iii) it is not necessary to take samples (which, if processed, have to be representative and of a negligible volume); and (iv) they can be used online to follow a process.

One can also point out that geometries such as anchor or helical ribbon are proposed for rheometers which are then used as well-characterised mixing systems [40]. They have to be used with the same precautions as for mixing systems. More simply, but also less rich in information, such geometries can also be used in a relative way to follow the time course of global viscosity in some processes [26, 34]. A special geometry proposed for rheometers is the four-bladed (or six-bladed) vane. Never used as a mixing system, its use in rheometers is especially interesting for yield stress fluids to avoid the wall slip effects currently observed for suspensions (formation of a depletion layer caused by migration of fibres away from the wall). This geometry allows precise determination of the fluid behaviour for low shear rate and is thus of special interest for the determination of the yield stress  $\tau_0$ . Its use for intermediate and high shear rates requires careful analysis when it is assimilated to the geometry of large-gap coaxial cylinders (see [59] for details). Such a geometry was used in a narrow-gap configuration by Knutsen and Liberatore [50] and in a large-gap

configuration by Mohtaschemi et al. [52] for fibrillated cellulose suspensions and by Derakhshandeh et al. [37]. These last authors examined the validity of such geometry in more detail for fibre suspensions by analysing the velocity profile determined by ultrasonic Doppler velocimetry. Stickel et al. [29] proposed a comparison, for a corn stover suspension of a given concentration, of yield stress measurements using the different methods presented here.

The choice of rheometer type then depends on the nature of the fluid tested. Nonclassical ways are commonly used to study fluids displaying complex characteristics including large particles, settling problems, slip and time dependency. Geometries that facilitate mixing, such as helical ribbons, anchors and paddles, can overcome settling problems and errors due to slip. Concerning lignocellulose suspensions, the main problems for measurement are heterogeneous suspension, floc formation [35] and particle decantation [51, 60, 61]. Wall slip is currently encountered with suspensions, and the use of surfaces with roughness equal to twofold or threefold the largest particle dimension is recommended [62]. Smooth surfaces, or inadequate roughness, lead to a depletion zone near the wall where the shear rate is higher, thus reducing the shear rate in the bulk fluid and distorting, sometimes significantly, the rheogram as illustrated in Fig. 3. It is thus important to take precautions when this kind of measurement must be carried out and some reports must be considered with caution when nothing is mentioned on this point. Aggregation of fibres is also a crucial point in suspension rheometry. It is caused by the constant and unidirectional shear rate applied to the suspension. An extreme case is presented as an illustration in Fig. 4. Formation of these structures depends on the value of the shear rate and the duration. Higher shear rates, as reported by Chen et al. [35] and Saarikoski et al. [25], can destroy the structures. These difficulties are not encountered in dynamic measurements (small-amplitude oscillations in the linear domain), and they are considerably reduced with online rheometry using a mixing system.

Focusing now on the data provided by these measurements, the main and best known characteristic is the viscosity. Suspensions are generally shear-thinning, and this behaviour is quantified by the power-law index n and the consistency k (fit of a





**Fig. 4** An extreme case of aggregation caused by a constant unidirectional shear flow of Whatman paper suspension (1 % wdm/w), fibre length  $d_{4,3}$ : 310 µm, serrated parallel plates 60 mm diameter, gap: 4 mm, constant shear rate: 10 s<sup>-1</sup>). **a** fluid before shearing, **b** during shearing, **c** after 15 s shearing. Note that the structures (visible on **b**) were somewhat disorganised when raising the upper plate (photo **c**), with no major changes in length or diameter

power law on the relevant region of the rheogram). This is, in practice, the only characteristic that can be obtained using a viscometer or a mixing system, together with the yield stress. The latter is evaluated from the low shear rate region of the rheogram, and several methods are used: shear stress limit when the shear rate tends to zero [17], adjustment of a Herschel-Bulkley-type model ( $\tau = \tau_0 + k\dot{\gamma}^n$ ) [20, 23], peak torque (or shear stress) during transient flow experiments at a slow, steady rate [50] and stress ramp analysed in terms of deformation vs shear stress curve [45, 49].

With rheometers, additional rheological characterisations can be obtained with dynamic measurements. Oscillatory stress sweeps and oscillatory frequency sweeps are the most frequently used, particularly for lignocellulose suspensions [63]. Sinusoidal shear stress (or strain) gives information on elasticity (part of the strain which is phased with the shear stress) and viscosity (part of the shear rate which is phased with the shear stress). The complex modulus  $G^*$  is defined as the ratio of shear stress to strain. Its real part G' is the storage modulus (elastic contribution), and its imaginary out-phase component G'' is the loss modulus (viscous contribution). It is used to characterise the viscoelasticity or viscoplasticity of materials. Indeed, yield stress fluids behaved like solid elastic material in the linear domain (small-amplitude oscillatory), and the determination of the limit of this domain can be used to evaluate the yield stress [9, 19, 63].

#### 2.2.2 Experimental Conditions

Lignocellulose suspensions were studied in various ranges of mass concentration varying between 0.1 and 600 gdm  $L^{-1}$  as indicated in Fig. 5. However, the majority of these studies focus on low and medium concentrations (1–200 gdm  $L^{-1}$ ). Temperatures were usually between 20 and 30 °C. The pH of the suspension was generally neutral (around 7) excluding a few articles which investigated the effect of pH on the rheological behaviour (pH varies from 4 to 10) [24, 37].



Fig. 5 Publication overview: particle diameters and substrate concentrations studied (*NCC* nanocrystalline cellulose, *MCC* microcrystalline cellulose, *MFC* microfibril cellulose, *WP* Whatman paper, *BAG* sugarcane bagasse, *PP* paper pulp)

Work scrutinising hydrolysis mechanisms was usually carried out in the range 40–55 °C for temperature, 4.8–5.0 for pH, 10–200 gdm  $L^{-1}$  for substrate concentration and 0.25–50 FPU/g cellulose for cellulase activity. Numerous studies explored two aspects: (i) hydrolysis kinetics and (ii) rheological behaviour [9, 20, 26, 27, 31–33, 38, 40–42, 51]. Items (i) and (ii) in addition to (iii) particle size evolution were investigated by Dibble et al. [32], Nguyen et al. [51] and Wiman et al. [9]. Studies of flow properties of suspensions together with hydrolysis kinetics represent half of all the articles published. This reveals the keen interest for applications concerning the valorisation of lignocellulose material by enzymatic methods, especially from 2010 on. However, simultaneous study of particle size and rheological behaviour during hydrolysis is a minor part of these studies despite the interest that this point presents.

#### **3** Rheological Behaviour of Lignocellulose Suspensions

One critical physical parameter in lignocellulose materials is their morphology and the large aspect ratios that are encountered. They induce significant contacts among particles (fibres) even at low concentrations and bring about a strong effect on suspension rheology. An increase of aspect ratio implies increases in the suspension viscosity [64, 65]. Not only the aspect ratio but also the particle shape influences the viscosity, as reported by Barnes et al. [66]: for 20 % volume fraction suspensions of solid particles with a limited aspect ratio (23 for the highest), and compared to a quasi-monodisperse spherical particle suspension, viscosity is 1.5-fold larger for grain suspension, 4.3-fold for plate suspension and 7.7-fold for rods. Particles with more complex shapes show greater dependence of viscosity on concentration [67, 68]. This requires a detailed knowledge of this effect, and advanced models will have to introduce critical morphological parameters to describe these evolutions.

## 3.1 Overview of Classical Models

#### 3.1.1 Basic Rheological Models

The two main parameters used in rheology are the shear rate  $\dot{\gamma}$  (s<sup>-1</sup>), which characterises the kinematics, and the shear stress,  $\tau$  (Pa or N m<sup>-2</sup>), which characterises the forces.

The flow curve  $\tau(\dot{\gamma})$  or equivalently the rheogram  $\mu(\dot{\gamma})$ , with  $\mu(\dot{\gamma}) = \tau/\dot{\gamma}$ , provides a complete characterisation of the rheological behaviour if the fluid is neither elastic nor thixotropic (time-dependent viscosity). Table 3 shows the main rheological behaviour and associated models. The power-law index (or flow behaviour index) *n* and the consistency *k* of the power law have a direct physical interpretation for viscosity and are present in almost all other models. They are therefore largely used as information concerning non-Newtonian viscosity.

The shear-thinning fluids (also called pseudoplastic fluids) generally have, for low and high shear rates, a Newtonian plateau (with values  $\mu_0$  and  $\mu_{\infty}$ , respectively, for viscosity). This can be modelled by using three- or four-parameter models such as Sisko, Cross, Powell–Eyring or Carreau models [69].

#### 3.1.2 Classical Rheological Model for Suspensions

Suspension viscosity is a function of numerous parameters linked to the solid phase (particle size, shape, concentration, separated fibres/aggregates/flocs as structural units, spatial orientation of the particles/units in the fluid, etc.) and to the suspending fluid (generally a Newtonian fluid).

The classical models describing suspension viscosity concern hard sphere suspensions (Table 4). These models mainly integrate the particle volume fraction effect, and after the Einstein equation for isolated monodisperse hard spheres, a physical complexity was progressively considered with hydrodynamic and particle–particle interactions up to percolation. Then, three concentration regimes are generally considered: dilute, semi-dilute and concentrated. The first one corresponds to very small values of the volume fraction,  $\varphi \rightarrow 0^+$ : the average distance between particles is large compared to their radius or length. The particles can move freely

Fluids		Rheological model(s)
Perfect fluid		$\mu = 0$
Newtonian fluids		$\tau = \mu \cdot \dot{\gamma}$ with $\mu$ = const.
Time-independent non-Newtonian viscous	Shear thinning: $\mu(\dot{\gamma}) \downarrow (0 < n < 1)$	Power law (or Ostwald-de Waele): $\tau = k \cdot \dot{\gamma}^n$
fluids	Shear thickening: $\mu(\dot{\gamma}) \uparrow (n > 1)$	
	Viscoplastic (Yield stress fluid: no flow if $\tau < \tau_s$ )	Bingham: $\tau = \tau_y + \mu_p \cdot \dot{\gamma}$ Herschel-Bulkley: $\tau = \tau_y + k \cdot \dot{\gamma}^n$ Casson: $\tau^{1/2} = \tau_y^{1/2} + k_c \cdot \dot{\gamma}^{1/2}$
Time-dependent	Thixotropic	For $\dot{\gamma} = \text{Const.: } \mu(t) \downarrow$
non-Newtonian fluids	Anti-thixotropic	For $\dot{\gamma} = \text{Const.: } \mu(t) \uparrow$
Viscoelastic fluids		Complex rheological models linking the strain rate tensor and the stress tensor. For oscillatory shear flows: $\tau = G^* \cdot \dot{\gamma}$ with $G^* = G' + iG''$ accounting for the phase shift between $\tau$ and $\dot{\gamma}$

 Table 3
 Rheological classification of fluids and usual associated models (quantities mentioned as constant are understood as "for given temperature and pressure")

through the suspension under the action of Brownian forces without perturbation induced by neighbouring particles but with close fluid–particle interactions (local hydrodynamic interactions). In semi-dilute suspensions, the flow perturbations created by the presence of particles will influence the movement of close particles. The overall flow pattern is affected by interactions between particles and hydrodynamic interactions. The last regime corresponds to concentrated suspensions with a lot of contacts between the particles. The viscosity of the suspension increases rapidly with volume fraction. When  $\phi$  reaches a critical value (glassy fraction,  $\phi_G \approx 0.58$  for spherical monodisperse particles), each particle is confined in a cage formed by its nearest neighbours. For volume fractions above this value, only a vibration of the particles inside the cage remains possible, and this possibility completely disappears when  $\phi$  reaches the value of random close packing ( $\phi_{RCP} = 0.64$  for monodisperse spheres) which is lower than the limit case  $\phi_{FCC} = 0.74$  corresponding to face-centred cubic arrangement.

The frontier between the different concentration domains strongly depends on the nature and the intensity of interaction between the particles. For instance, a 5 % vol. suspension of neutral monodispersed spheres behaves as a dilute and Newtonian suspension, while a 1 % vol or less clay suspension is viscoplastic with a very high yield stress together with a thixotropic behaviour.

The extension of the classical models of Table 4 had successively integrated particle complexity such as morphological aspects [66] and deformable particles [69]. A higher order of complexity was incorporated by considering the flocs or aggregates currently encountered in fibre suspensions. These complex associations

Dilute	Einstein	$\mu_{\rm rel} = \frac{\mu}{\mu_s} = 1 + 2.5 \cdot \phi$
Dilute/semi-dilute	Batchelor	$\mu_{\rm rel} = \frac{\mu}{\mu_{\rm s}} = 1 + 2.5 \cdot \phi + 6.2 \cdot \phi^2$
Semi-dilute/ concentrated	Krieger-Dougherty	$ \mu_{\text{rel}} = \frac{\mu}{\mu_s} = \left(1 - \frac{\phi}{\phi_m}\right)^{-[\mu] \cdot \phi_m} $ With $1 \le [\mu] \cdot \phi_m \le 2$ [ $\mu$ ]: intrinsic viscosity $\phi_m$ : maximum volume fraction
Concentrated	Douglas-Garboczy	$\mu_{\text{rel}} = \frac{\mu}{\mu_s} = K \left( 1 - \frac{\phi}{\phi^*} \right)$ $\phi^*$ : critical volume fraction (percolation threshold)

 Table 4
 Rheological models for hard sphere suspensions [69]

of particles can, for instance, be modelled by introducing structural units in an effective volume fraction  $\phi_{\text{eff}}$  which includes the embedded fluid fraction through an average compactness [69].

#### 3.2 Observed Rheological Behaviour

In dilute regime, Newtonian behaviour is generally observed for substrate concentrations less than 0.1 %. This critical concentration ( $C^* = 0.1$  %) was proposed for both NCC [13] and MCC [17, 48]. Wu et al. [70] measured a slightly higher value for NCC ( $C^* = 0.4$  %). No model of critical concentration was presented or proposed for complex matrices. This point can be explained by a lack of studies for very low concentrations which are not interesting from a lignocellulose valorisation point of view.

For substrate concentrations higher than 0.1 %, all studies report non-Newtonian behaviour, of shear-thinning or pseudoplastic type, as illustrated by Fig. 6. In this figure, these viscosities for MCC and BAG are well described by a power-law model on the studied shear rate range. Considering now the semi-dilute and concentrated regimes, a sharp increase of viscosity was observed by Nguyen et al. [51], who studied the rheology of different lignocellulose suspensions (microcrystalline cellulose, Whatman paper, paper pulp). They noticed a critical volume fraction, C\*\* (based on humid matter), that signifies the regime transition. Depending on the material complexity, this value increased from Whatman paper ( $C^{**} = 3 \%$ ) to paper pulp ( $C^{**} = 9 \%$ ) and to microcrystalline cellulose ( $C^{**} = 24 \%$ ).

Table 5 illustrates the viscosity of corn stover suspensions for a given concentration and a given shear rate. These results indicate homogeneous values although measured by different authors using different methods. These similar values could originate from the same substrate type, the same pre-treatment method (diluted acid with  $H_2SO_4$ —standard protocol from NREL) and the same range of particle diameters (100–120  $\mu$ m for volume mean diameter).



Fig. 6 Viscosity of MCC (90 µm (a)) and BAG (b) suspensions as a function of shear rate

viscosity for corn stover	Authors	Viscosity (Pa s)	
suspension at 15 % wdm/w	Pimenova and Hanley [28]	15	
-	Stickel et al. [29]	25	
	Viamajala et al. [30]	20	
	Dunaway et al. [31]	10	
	Specific values are reported for a shear rate of $10 \text{ s}^{-1}$		

# 3.3 Structure and Consistency Index

As mentioned before, the flow behaviour index *n* and the consistency *k* are good indicators of viscosity. Figures 7 and 8 present data extracted from the literature for the consistency (Fig. 7) and the flow behaviour index (Fig. 8) versus particle diameter and substrate concentration. Among all the publications cited, only 25 % present these two parameters. This point evokes the difficulty for data treatment and the observation of general tendencies. Furthermore, no results were found for particle diameters less than 30  $\mu$ m or larger than 600  $\mu$ m and only one result for substrate concentrations above 150 gdm L<sup>-1</sup> [28]. Bayod et al. [18] and Pimenova and Hanley [28] who studied, respectively, MCC and corn stover suspensions gave totally different results compared to other authors. So their results are not presented in these two figures.

Concerning the consistency index *k* (Fig. 7), an increase is observed when the substrate concentration and/or the particle diameter increase. With PP, for example, *k* increased sixfold (from 3.3 to 17.1 Pa s<sup>n</sup>) for concentrations varying from 28 to 42gdm L<sup>-1</sup> [51]; at the same concentration of 50 gdm L<sup>-1</sup>, *k* increased twofold (from 62 to 112 Pa s<sup>n</sup>) for particle mean diameters varying from 670 to 2960  $\mu$ m







[37]. So, the effects of concentration and particle size on the consistency index are of the same order of magnitude. The relationship between these quantities can be modelled by a linear or a quadratic equation. This tendency is observed visually on graphics but also validated by Nguyen et al. [51] and Bayod et al. [18].

Now focusing on the power-law index n (Fig. 8), it decreases as the substrate concentration increases, thus underlining the fact that the non-Newtonian behaviour becomes increasingly pronounced as the concentration rises. With NCC, for example, n decreases from 0.962 to 0.75 for concentrations of 0.6 to 20 gdm  $L^{-1}$  [14], and for corn stover suspensions, *n* decreases from 0.91 to 0.5 for concentrations of 50 to 300 gdm  $L^{-1}$ . For particle diameters less than 1000  $\mu$ m, n clearly tends to 1 as substrate concentration tends to 0, the behaviour of the suspension tends towards that of water [14, 20, 28, 51]. For particle diameters greater than 1000  $\mu$ m, this tendency is not so clear on the graphs and *n* does not seem to tend to 1 as the concentration tends to 0. This point could be explained by a jump of power-law index for a very low concentration and could be specific to fibre morphology, aspect ratio, etc. For particle diameters greater than 1000 µm and concentrations greater than 10 gdm L<sup>-1</sup>, the power-law index comes to 0.2 whatever the concentration and diameter [37]. This value can be considered as a critical value of the power-law index or simply regarded as resulting from the choice of the model (power-law model or Herschel-Bulkley model) and adjustment zone.

Considering the analogies between lignocellulose fibre and micro-organism suspensions, for cell broth, the biomass concentration and the morphology parameters clearly affect the rheological properties. Different authors tried to correlate rheological behaviour and models with various parameters (concentration, morphology, porosity) as reported in the review of Wucherpfennig et al. [11]. These authors gave a precise description of the morphological criteria of interest.

As reported by Wucherpfennig et al. [11], Tucker and Thomas [71] studied 75-h *Penicillium chrysogenum* samples and proposed that each rheological parameter (RP) could be expressed as a power-law function of the biomass concentration  $(C_m)$ , the roughness and the compactness. In more detail, Riley et al. [72] used the same fungi and concluded that the average temporal value was 0.35 for a power-law index, *n*, with  $C_m$  ranging from 10 to 32 g L<sup>-1</sup>. However, the data reported indicate that *n* evolves between 0.45 and 0.2. They proposed a correlation (Eq. 2) for the consistency index in relationship with biomass concentration  $C_m$  (g L<sup>-1</sup>) and mean maximum dimension  $D_m$  (µm):

$$k = C_m^2 \cdot (5 \times 10^{-5} \cdot D_m - 10^{-3}) \tag{2}$$

Petersen et al. [73] proposed, using principal components analysis, a prediction of apparent viscosity, yield stress and consistency index from the size distribution and biomass concentration. Based on *Aspergillus orizae* cultures, they assumed a constant power-law index around 0.4 and reported accurate correlations between predicted and experimental parameters (k and  $\tau_0$ ). In a more detailed approach, Mohseni and Allen [74] investigated the influence of concentration (3–20 cdw/L) and particle morphology on the yield stress of filamentous broths of *Aspergilus niger* and *Streptomyces levoris*. They mainly focused on yield stress (ranging from 0.1 to 37 Pa) and proposed a power-law model for  $\tau_0$  as a function of biomass concentration (exponent between 2 and 3). In addition, Mohseni and Allen [74] examined different morphological parameters, reported empirical correlations and identified the most relevant morphological factors.

In view of the level of complexity of substrate suspension (cell culture broths, lignocellulose suspensions), the robustness of rheological models (consistency and power-law indexes, yield stress) has to be improved to reliably integrate the morphological parameters for filamentous and fibrous suspensions.

#### 3.4 Yield Stress and Oscillatory Measurements

A central point in a bioprocess is to ensure correct homogenisation of the material throughout the reactor and the better control and an optimal efficiency of hydrolysis at each point. This becomes a challenge when complex rheological behaviours are encountered as is the case with lignocellulose suspensions, due to their fibrous nature, and with filamentous broth. In the dilute regime, increasing the dry matter content of a suspension is not a difficulty as it just corresponds to a reasonable increase in the viscosity which can be predicted. However, the limit for this regime depends on the nature and properties of the fibres, but whatever that may be, it is very low and extrapolation from low dry matter contents to high ones is not really feasible. But large-scale processes need higher dry matter contents to be considered as realistic from a production cost point of view. Increasing concentration is then an economical and environmental necessity but leads to complex rheological

behaviour with the appearance of yield stress. Considering hydrolysis of lignocellulose matrices, a balance between feed strategy (viscosity increases due to substrate concentration) and bioreaction (viscosity decreases due to fibre degradation and solubilisation) can be proposed to reach high fermentable substrate concentrations (equivalent to high dry matter content).

Lowys et al. [23], working on MFC suspensions, observed that above a critical concentration  $C^* \approx 0.3$  %w/w, the viscosity rapidly increases and suspensions exhibit a viscoplastic behaviour. This signifies, inter alia, that the shear stress has to be above this critical stress to initiate flow. Consequently, the regions where the stress is not high enough are dead zones or solid-like regions which are highly damageable for transfers and thus for process efficiency [49, 75]. This viscoplastic behaviour has been widely reported in fibre suspensions [63, 76] as well as in filamentous broth [74] and has to be considered in the design of process equipment [45].

As mentioned in Sect. 2.2, yield stress fluids behave as elastic/viscoelastic materials under the threshold and their behaviour is studied using various approaches throughout the literature: by shear viscosity measurements and/or by dynamic measurements (oscillatory strain sweeps and oscillatory frequency sweeps). The latter allow the determination of the elastic modulus G' and of the loss modulus G' which can in turn be used to estimate a value for the yield stress. In the linear domain, the elastic modulus is generally found to be almost an order of magnitude higher than the loss modulus and independent or weakly dependent on frequency as expected for yield stress fluids.

Focusing now on pulp fibre suspensions in the domain of interest for industrial applications, increasing concentration leads from small flocs loosely connected by individual fibres to a network structure [34]. When these suspensions are submitted to small oscillatory strains, the linkages are deformed elastically. Increasing the strain amplitude and leaving the linear domain lead to inter-fibre or inter-floc failures and to a structural breakdown of the fibre network. The observed yield stress then indicates the appearance of a physical network and is associated with the strength of this network. So, yield stress and elastic modulus can also be regarded as sources of information on the fibre network.

The network properties and especially the yield stress depend on numerous parameters among which the concentration and the fibre characteristics: length, aspect ratio, pH, temperature, additives.

To illustrate the variety of these parameters, let us mention two studies. The first [23] concerns the dispersion method used to prepare the suspensions. The authors observed notably lower values for the yield stress and for the G' and G" modulus for mechanical stirring when compared to ultrasound dispersion. Ultrasound achieves better dispersion and is linked to a greater strength of the network. Other interesting results are reported by Dibble et al. [32] who compared two reduction size methods on the same initial material. Their results show that mechanical dispersion does not reduce the yield stress nor the enzyme digestibility of the biomass, whereas dilute acid pre-treatment leading to a similar particle size distribution leads to a decrease in yield stress and to increased digestibility.

This illustrates the complex relationship existing between the fibre properties, their implementation and the rheological behaviour of the resulting suspension. Nevertheless, some interesting results are available in the literature. Most concern the variation of the yield stress and/or the elastic modulus with concentration. Bennington et al. [45] on the basis of previous works examined a power-law relation (Eq. 3) with the mass concentration  $C_m$ :

$$\tau_y = a \cdot C_m^b \tag{3}$$

A similar relation (Eq. 4) was proposed for the elastic modulus:

$$G' = \alpha \cdot C_m^\beta \tag{4}$$

Considering the general case of suspension rheological behaviour, the appropriate parameter is rather the volume fraction of the particles. For complex systems, such as cellulose/lignocellulose fibres, the volume of fibres/flocs is not easy to define and to evaluate because the pulp fibres swell up in the presence of water to constitute a porous medium with trapped water. Because the mass concentration can be accurately determined without ambiguity or having to choose between the objects to consider, it is preferred. The drawback for this choice is the dependence of the model parameters on the nature and properties of the fibres as the relationship between volume fraction and mass fraction is not a simple one. This point was raised by Bennington et al. [45]. The correlations proposed by different authors are presented in Table 6. A large dispersion is observed for parameters *a* and  $\alpha$  and so they are not reported in this table.

The most striking result from Table 6 is the large dispersion observed for the values of  $\beta$  and b, and the fitted parameters appear to be specific to each pulp. Nevertheless, a tendency can be noted as the values observed for the smallest

Authors	Matrices	$\% d_m (w/w)$	$G' \propto C_m^\beta$ $\beta$ parameter	$\tau_y \propto C_m^b$ b parameter
Bennington et al. [45]	PP	0.5–35	-	2.31, 2.99 and 3.56
Tatsumi et al. [17]	MCC	0.05-1	2.25	2
Dalpke and Kerekes [77]	PP		-	2 to 4
Tatsumi et al. [21]	PP	1-10	3	-
Stickel et al. [29]	CoSt	5–25	-	5.7 ± 0.5
Agoda-Tandjawa et al. [24]	MFC	0.2–3	2.58	-
Ehrhardt et al. [78]	CoSt	20-35	-	3.7 to 4.2
Knutsen and Liberatore [50]	CoSt	5–17	-	6
Wiman et al. [9]	Pre-treated spruce	4-12	6.6 ± 0.3	5 ± 0.2

 Table 6
 Correlation between suspension mass fraction and yield stress and/or elastic modulus

particles (MCC, MFC) are smaller than those for larger fibres (pulp fibres). To explain the dispersion observed in pulp fibres, the type of fibre processing is evoked [78]. Using Eq. 3 expressed with the volume fraction  $\phi$ , Wiman et al. [9] calculated a fractal dimension of the network.

If the existence of a correlation between yield stress or elastic modulus and mass concentration seems to be generally acknowledged, no real correlation appears between these rheological parameters and the morphological properties of the fibres, namely length and aspect ratio. This point was examined by Bennington et al. [45] who were unable to conclude as to the existence of such a correlation although theoretical considerations had led the authors to expect a squared-aspect ratio dependence. Over a reduced range of aspect ratios, Wikström et al. [47] reported a value of around 1–1.3 for this exponent.

Some studies also explored the influence of pH and temperature and generally concluded that there was a low or null influence for MFC [23, 24] as well as for pulp [47] except Ehrhardt et al. [78] who observed a decreasing yield stress as the hydrolysis temperature was increased.

As increased yield stress will lower process efficiency and raise energy costs, one can expect that a good choice of additives will modify the rheological behaviour in the right direction. This was analysed by different authors. Thus, the yield stress and/or the G' G" moduli are enhanced by additions of flocculent [46] or salt [23, 24]. Concerning polyelectrolyte additions, results are contrasted between Lowys et al. [23] on MFC and Horvath and Lindstrom [19] on bleached softwood kraft pulp. Testing a large range of surfactants on pre-treated corn stover, Knutsen and Liberatore [50] observed a decrease in the yield stress, while addition of protein had the opposite effect.

# 4 Physical Properties of Fibre and Suspension During Enzymatic Hydrolysis

Concerning the general evolution of viscosity, all studies conclude that the viscosity of suspensions decreases during enzymatic hydrolysis. This depends strongly on the nature of matrices, on the nature and the activity of the enzyme, and on the concentration of the substrates and the experimental conditions such as temperature or rotation speed. During hydrolysis, two phases can be observed for viscosity. First, a rapid decrease of viscosity is observed. Then, a steady value is maintained during a second phase. Dasari and Berson [41] studied the hydrolysis of red oak sawdust and demonstrated that viscosity decreased 10-fold after 24-h hydrolysis. For acid-pre-treated sugarcane bagasse, viscosity was reduced by 77 to 95 % after 6 h [26] and by 75 to 82 % within 10 h [27]. This decrease and the final plateau value depended on the enzyme loading [26]. For spruce pulp at 30 FPU/g cellulose, initial and final viscosities ( $\mu_{initial}/\mu_{final}$ ) were 0.24/0.028, 0.4/0.058 and 0.84/0.087 µm for concentrations of 10, 15 and 20 % (w/w), respectively [10]. This decrease of viscosity is due to mainly (i) substrate solubilisation and (ii) particle size diameter reduction. However, publications exploring

the relationship between particle size and viscosity evolution are very few. Some publications can be cited like [9, 20]. Both of these authors concluded that a roughly twofold reduction occurred in particle mean diameter for 24-h or 48-h hydrolysis.

With the goal of enabling easier comparison of viscosity variations during enzymatic hydrolysis, authors propose the use of a time  $t(\mu/\mu_0 = 0.1)$  defined as the duration necessary for a 90 % reduction in viscosity. A summary of past works with different experimental conditions is presented in Fig. 9. Observing only one data series (one publication), the relationship between  $t(\mu/\mu_0 = 0.1)$  and cellulase activity is clearly demonstrated: the higher the quantity of enzyme, the shorter the time  $t(\mu/\mu_0 = 0.1)$ . However, the tendency for all lignocellulose substrates in all experimental conditions indicates a large dispersion of points. This clearly illustrates the complexity of rheology studies in hydrolysis conditions which depend not only on enzymatic activity but also on the nature of the substrate, the bio-chemical-physico properties of the substrate and of course on experimental conditions.

Szijarto et al. [40] explored hydrolysis experiments of hydrothermally pre-treated wheat straw with purified enzymes from *Trichoderma reesei*. The results obtained at 15 % (w/w) solids revealed that endoglucanases were the key enzymes to rapidly reduce the viscosity of the lignocellulose substrate. Cellobiohydrolases only played a minor role, and xylanase had practically no effect at all on the viscosity.

Palmqvist and Liden [42] monitored the impeller torque (and hence power input) in a stirred tank reactor throughout high solid enzymatic hydrolysis (<20 % w/w) of steam-pre-treated *Arundo donax* and spruce. The decrease in torque during spruce hydrolysis was much slower than *Arundo donax* hydrolysis because of a higher



**Fig. 9** Summary of  $t(\mu/\mu_0 = 0.1)$  as a function of cellulase activity

amount of lignin compared to the arundo (46 and 37 %, respectively). The lignin structure is not broken down during the hydrolysis and might therefore contribute to maintaining high viscosities of the spruce material.

Concerning rheological behaviour, typical shear-thinning was confirmed during hydrolysis [27, 31, 79]. The consistency index decreases, and the power-law index increases as hydrolysis proceeds [9, 20, 31, 79]. Rosgaard et al. [79] studied the hydrolysis of steam-pre-treated barley straw and demonstrated that for a concentration of 15 % dry matter, the consistency index decreased from 16,500 to 185 Pa s<sup>n</sup>, while the power-law index increased from 0.07 to 0.47 for 6- and 72-h hydrolysis, respectively. Dunaway et al. [31] surveyed the hydrolysis of pre-treated corn stover over a concentration range of 10–25 %. They concluded that the consistency index, *k*, decreases rapidly with time, with the largest rate of decrease (around 10-fold) occurring in the first 8 h.

One of the rheological parameters that were followed during enzymatic hydrolysis was the elasticity and/or the yield stress of the suspension through oscillatory measurements. However, only few articles were found on this point [9, 80, 81]. Wiman et al. [9] carried out a comprehensive rheological characterisation of dilute acid-pre-treated spruce during hydrolysis. Fillaudeau et al. [80] explored the enzymatic liquefaction and saccharification of paper pulp. Both authors confirmed that elastic modulus was always greater than viscous modulus in the initial step and during hydrolysis, confirming viscoplastic behaviour. These two modules decreased as a function of hydrolysis time around 100-fold for 48 and 100 h in spruce and paper pulp, respectively. Wiman et al. [9] demonstrated that the yield stress decreased dramatically with time. Roche et al. [81], for a 20 % w/w dilute acid-pretreated corn stover, observed a low hydrolysis process (reduction of yield stress around 100-fold in 4 days) but obtained a single curve for yield stress versus total biomass conversion with enzyme concentrations of 5, 10 and 20 mg g<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 5 Conclusion

In a white biotechnology context, this review proposes a survey of the different methods and results concerning the rheological behaviour of lignocellulose fibre suspensions and their evolution during biocatalytic degradation. The research, initially centred on simple matrices (microcrystalline cellulose), was extended to complex substrates such as agriculture by-products and various woody substrates. The scientific literature with regard to the rheological behaviour of micro-organism suspensions (single cell up to pellet, ovoid up to mycelial morphology) constitutes a homogeneous corpus of knowledge. Nevertheless, a limited number of studies cover the rheological behaviour of lignocellulose matrices in highly concentrated suspensions and during biocatalytic degradation. A shear-thinning rheological behaviour was conserved all along enzymatic attack, but its magnitude fell progressively. In addition, oscillatory measurements indicate a non-negligible yield stress for the

initial suspensions of several complex matrices. This yield stress rapidly decreases and then disappears within the first ten hours of enzyme attack. During hydrolysis, the evolution of viscosity is dependent on the nature of the substrate and the enzyme concentration. Conventional or adapted models accurately describe rheological behaviour of suspensions as a function of shear rate and mass or volume concentration, but the fitted parameters strongly depend on the substrate. However, a major scientific bottleneck remains in the integration of various physical parameters to establish reliable and predictive engineering models. Beyond these models taking into account shear rate and volume/mass fraction, variables such as particle equivalent diameters are sometimes included, rarely the morphological criteria and their distribution. The establishment of structured rheological models integrating biocatalytic kinetics and using high dry matter contents remains a scientific goal and is a major condition for bio-industry development. In this paper, the methods and the models related to the rheological behaviour of complex lignocellulose suspensions are similar or adapted from filamentous micro-organism suspensions including concentration, mean diameter, hyphal propensity and shear rate. By analogy, the scientific study of the rheological behaviour of lignocellulose suspensions will aim to integrate additional physical parameters such as morphological parameters (equivalent diameter, mean length, aspect ratio, specific surface area, etc.) as well as the associated distribution functions.

Future prospects depend on this state of the art. Firstly, critical concentration and hydrolysis time can be used to define a "practical feed rate" which may enable suspension viscosity to be controlled and regulated along hydrolysis depending on the release kinetics of fermentable substrates and transfer limitations. Secondly, mixed (lignocellulosic and micro-organism) suspensions should be investigated to study their rheological behaviour, define the critical and limiting parameters and integrate consolidated rheological knowledge into the models applied.

#### References

- 1. Vallette P, De Choudens C (1992) Le bois, la pâte, le papier. Centre Technique de l'Industrie des Papiers, Cartons et Celluloses, Grenoble, France. ISBN 9782906579040
- Gibbons WR, Hughes SR (2009) Integrated biorefineries with engineered microbes and highvalue co-products for profitable biofuels production. Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 45(3):218–228. doi:10.1007/s11627-009-9202-1
- Ogier JC, Ballerini D, Leygue JP, Rigal L, Pourquie J (1999) Ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass. Oil Gas Sci Technol Revue IFP Energies Nouvelles 54(1):67–94. doi:10.2516/ogst:1999004
- Bommarius AS, Katona A, Cheben SE, Patel AS, Ragauskas AJ, Knudson K, Pu Y (2008) Cellulase kinetics as a function of cellulose pretreatment. Metab Eng 10(6):370–381. doi:10. 1016/j.ymben.2008.06.008
- 5. Lee J (1997) Biological conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to ethanol. J Biotechnol 56 (1):1–24
- Zhang X, Qin W, Paice MG, Saddler JN (2009) High consistency enzymatic hydrolysis of hardwood substrates. Bioresour Technol 100(23):5890–5897

- Karunanithy C, Muthukumarappan K, Gibbons WR (2013) Effect of extruder screw speed, temperature, and enzyme levels on sugar recovery from different biomasses. ISRN Biotechnol. doi:10.5402/2013/942810
- Eggeman T, Elander RT (2005) Process and economic analysis of pretreatment technologies. Bioresour Technol 96(18):2019–2025. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2005.01.017
- 9. Wiman M, Palmqvist B, Tornberg E, Liden G (2010) Rheological characterization of dilute acid pretreated softwood. Biotechnol Bioeng 108(5):1031–1041
- 10. Um BH (2007) Optimization of ethanol production from concentrated substrate. PhD thesis, Auburn University
- 11. Wucherpfennig T, Kiep KA, Driouch H, Wittmann C, Krull R (2010) Morphology and rheology in filamentous cultivations. Adv Appl Microbiol 72:89–136. doi:10.1016/S0065-2164(10)72004-9
- Araki J, Wada M, Kuga S, Okano T (1998) Flow properties of microcrystalline cellulose suspension prepared by acid treatment of native cellulose. Colloids Surfaces A— Physicochemical Eng Aspects 142(1):75–82. doi:10.1016/s0927-7757(98)00404-x
- Boluk Y, Lahiji R, Zhao L, McDermott MT (2011) Suspension viscosities and shape parameter of cellulose nanocrystals (CNC). Colloids and Surfaces A—Physicochem Eng Aspects 377(1–3):297–303. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2011.01.003
- Gonzalez-Labrada E, Gray DG (2012) Viscosity measurements of dilute aqueous suspensions of cellulose nanocrystals using a rolling ball viscometer. Cellulose 19(5):1557–1565. doi:10. 1007/s10570-012-9746-9
- Lu A, Hemraz U, Khalili Z, Boluk Y (2014) Unique viscoelastic behaviors of colloidal nanocrystalline cellulose aqueous suspensions. Cellulose 21(3):1239–1250. doi:10.1007/ s10570-014-0173-y
- Luukkonen P, Newton JM, Podczeck F, Yliruusi J (2001) Use of a capillary rheometer to evaluate the rheological properties of microcrystalline cellulose and silicified microcrystalline cellulose wet masses. Int J Pharm 216(1–2):147–157. doi:10.1016/s0378-5173(01)00585-3
- 17. Tatsumi D, Ishioka S, Matsumoto T (2001) Effect of fiber concentration and axial ratio on the rheological properties of cellulose fiber suspensions. J Soc Rheol Jpn 30(1):27–32
- Bayod E, Bolmstedt U, Innings F, Tornberg E (2005) Rheological characterization of fiber suspensions prepared from vegetable pulp and dried fibers. A comparatible study. Ann Trans Nordic Rheol Soc 13:249–253
- Horvath AE, Lindstrom T (2007) The influence of colloidal interactions on fiber network strength. J Colloid Interface Sci 309(2):511–517
- 20. Um BH, Hanley TR (2008) A comparison of simple rheological parameters and simulation data for Zymomonas mobilis fermentation broths with high substrate loading in a 3-L bioreactor. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 145(1/3):29–38
- Tatsumi D, Hitoshi K, Chen B, Matsumoto T (2008) Effect of natural additives on the rheological properties of cellulose fiber disperse systems. Colloids Surf A: Physicochem Eng Aspects 316:151–158
- Tozzi EJ, McCarthy MJ, Lavenson DM, Cardona M, Powell RL, Karuna N, Jeoh T (2014) Effect of fiber structure on yield stress during enzymatic conversion of cellulose. AIChE J 60 (5):1582–1590. doi:10.1002/aic.14374
- Lowys M-P, Desbrières J, Rinaudo M (2000) Rheological characterization of cellulosic microfibril suspensions. Role of polymeric additives. Food Hydrocolloids 15:25–32
- Agoda-Tandjawa G, Durand S, Berot S, Blassel C, Gaillard C, Garnier C, Doublier J-L (2010) Rheological characterization of microfibrillated cellulose suspensions after freezing. Carbohydr Polym 80:677–686
- 25. Saarikoski E, Saarinen T, Salmela J, Seppala J (2012) Flocculated flow of microfibrillated cellulose water suspensions: an imaging approach for characterisation of rheological behaviour. Cellulose 19(3):647–659. doi:10.1007/s10570-012-9661-0
- Geddes CC, Peterson JJ, Mullinnix MT, Svoronos SA, Shanmugam KT, Ingram LO (2010) Optimizing cellulase usage for improved mixing and rheological properties of acid-pretreated

sugarcane bagasse. Bioresour Technol 101(23):9128–9136. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.07. 040

- Pereira LTC, Pereira LTC, Teixeira RSS, Bon EPD, Freitas SP (2011) Sugarcane bagasse enzymatic hydrolysis: rheological data as criteria for impeller selection. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 38(8):901–907
- Pimenova NV, Hanley AR (2004) Effect of corn stover concentration on rheological characteristics. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 113:347–360
- Stickel JJ, Knutsen JS, Liberatore MW, Luu W, Bousfield DW, Klingenberg DJ, Tim Scott C, Root TW, Ehrhardt MR, Monz TO (2009) Rheology measurements of a biomass slurry: an inter-laboratory study. Rheol Acta 48(9):1005–1015. doi:10.1007/s00397-009-0382-8
- Sridhar V, McMillan JD, Schell DJ, Elander RT (2009) Rheology of corn stover slurries at high solids concentrations—Effects of saccharification and particle size. Bioresour Technol 100(2):925–934. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2008.06.070
- Dunaway KW, Dasari RK, Bennett NG, Berson RE (2010) Characterization of changes in viscosity and insoluble solids content during enzymatic saccharification of pretreated corn stover slurries. Bioresour Technol 101(10):3575–3582. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.12.071
- Dibble CJ, Shatova TA, Jorgenson JL, Stickel JJ (2011) Particle morphology characterization and manipulation in biomass slurries and the effect on rheological properties and enzymatic conversion. Biotechnol Prog 27(6):1751–1759. doi:10.1002/btpr.669
- 33. Samaniuk JR, Scott CT, Root TW, Klingenberg DJ (2011) The effect of high intensity mixing on the enzymatic hydrolysis of concentrated cellulose fiber suspensions. Bioresour Technol 102(6):4489–4494. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.11.117
- Damani R, Powell RL, Hagen N (1993) Viscoelastic characterization of medium consistency pulp suspensions. Can J Chem Eng 71(5):676–684
- Chen B, Tatsumi D, Matsumoto T (2003) Fiber orientation and flow properties of pulp fiber suspensions under shear flow conditions. Sen'I Gakkaishi 59(12):471–478
- 36. Blanco A, Negro C, Fuente E, Tijero J (2006) Rotor selection for a Searle-type device to study the rheology of paper pulp suspensions. Chem Eng Process 46:37–44
- Derakhshandeh B, Hatzikiriakos SG, Bennington CPJ (2010) Rheology of pulp suspensions using ultrasonic Doppler velocimetry. Rheol Acta 49(11–12):1127–1140. doi:10.1007/ s00397-010-0485-2
- Le Moigne N, Jardeby K, Navard P (2010) Structural changes and alkaline solubility of wood cellulose fibers after enzymatic peeling treatment. Carbohydr Polym 79:325–332
- 39. Chaussy D, Martin C, Roux JC (2011) Rheological behavior of cellulose fiber suspensions: application to paper-making processing. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(6):3524–3533
- 40. Szijarto N, Siika-Aho M, Sontag-Strohm T, Viikari L (2011) Liquefaction of hydrothermally pretreated wheat straw at high-solids content by purified Trichoderma enzymes. Bioresour Technol 102(2):1968–1974. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.09.012
- Dasari RK, Berson RE (2007) The effect of particle size on hydrolysis reaction rates and rheological properties in cellulosic slurries. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 137:289–299. doi:10. 1007/s12010-007-9059-x
- 42. Palmqvist B, Liden G (2012) Torque measurements reveal large process differences between materials during high solid enzymatic hydrolysis of pretreated lignocellulose. Biotechnol Biofuels 5:57. doi:10.1186/1754-6834-5-57
- 43. Allen T (1968) Particle size measurement. Chapman & Hall, London
- Brittain HG (2001) Particle size distribution. Part I: representation of particle shape, size and distribution. Pharm Technol 25:38–45
- Bennington CPJ, Kerekes RJ, Grace JR (1990) The yield stress of fiber suspensions. Can J Chem Eng 68(5):748–757
- 46. Swerin A (1998) Rheological properties of cellulosic fibre suspensions flocculated by cationic polyacrylamides. Colloids Surfaces A: Physicochem Eng Aspects 133 (3):279–294. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7757(97)00212-4
- 47. Wikström T, Rasmuson A (1998) Yield stress of pulp suspensions. The influence of fibre properties and processing conditions. Nord Pulp Pap Res J 13(3):243–250

- Tatsumi D, Ishioka S, Matsumoto T (1999) Effect of particle and salt concentrations on the rheological properties of cellulose fibrous suspensions. Nihon Reoroji Gakkaishi 27(4):243– 248. doi:10.1678/rheology.27.243
- Ein-Mozaffari F, Bennington CPJ, Dumont GA (2005) Suspension yield stress and the dynamic response of agitated pulp chests. Chem Eng Sci 60 (8–9):2399–2408. doi:http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.ces.2004.11.019
- Knutsen JS, Liberatore MW (2010) Rheology modification and enzyme kinetics of high-solids cellulosic slurries: an economic analysis. Energy Fuels 24:6506–6512. doi:10.1021/ef100746q
- Nguyen TC, Anne-Archard D, Coma V, Cameleyre X, Lombard E, Binet C, Nouhen A, To KA, Fillaudeau L (2013) In situ rheometry of concentrated cellulose fibre suspensions and relationships with enzymatic hydrolysis. Bioresour Technol 133:563–572. doi:10.1016/j. biortech.2013.01.110
- 52. Mohtaschemi M, Dimic-Misic K, Puisto A, Korhonen M, Maloney T, Paltakari J, Alava MJ (2014) Rheological characterization of fibrillated cellulose suspensions via bucket vane viscometer. Cellulose 21(3):1305–1312. doi:10.1007/s10570-014-0235-1
- 53. Cullen PJ, O'Donnell CP, Houska M (2003) Rotational rheometry using complex geometries —A review. J Texture Stud 34(1):1–20. doi:10.1111/j.1745-4603.2003.tb01052.x
- Metzner AB, Otto RE (1957) Agitation of non-Newtonian fluids. AIChE J 3(1):3–10. doi:10. 1002/aic.690030103
- Rieger F, Novak V (1973) Power Consumption of Agitators in Highly Viscous non-Newtonian Liquids. Trans Inst Chem Eng 51:105–111
- 56. Jahangiri M, Golkar-Narenji MR, Montazerin N, Savarmand S (2001) Investigation of the viscoelastic effect on the Metzner and Otto coefficient through LDA velocity measurements. Chin J Chem Eng 9(1):77–83
- 57. Rao MA (1975) Measurement of flow properties of food suspensions with a mixer. J Texture Stud 6(4):533–539. doi:10.1111/j.1745-4603.1975.tb01426.x
- Seyssiecq I, Marrot B, Djerroud D, Roche N (2008) In situ triphasic rheological characterisation of activated sludge in an aerated bioreactor. Chem Eng J 142(1):40–47. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2007.11.007
- Rabia A, Yahiaoui S, Djabourov M, Feuillebois F, Lasuye T (2014) Optimization of the vane geometry. Rheol Acta 53(4):357–371. doi:10.1007/s00397-014-0759-1
- Nguyen QD, Boger DV (1992) Measuring the flow properties of yield stress fluids. Annu Rev Fluid Mech 24:47–88
- Barnes HA (1997) Thixotropy—A review. J Nonnewton Fluid Mech 70(1–2):1–33. doi:10. 1016/s0377-0257(97)00004-9
- 62. Coussot P, Ancey C (1999) Rhéophysique des pâtes et suspensions. EDP Sciences, Paris
- Derakhshandeh B, Kerekes RJ, Hatzikiriakos SG, Bennington CPJ (2011) Rheology of pulp fibre suspensions: a critical review. Chem Eng Sci 66(15):3460–3470. doi:10.1016/j.ces.2011. 04.017
- Marti I, Hofler O, Fischer P, Windhab EJ (2005) Rheology of concentrated suspensions containing mixtures of spheres and fibres. Rheol Acta 44(5):502–512. doi:10.1007/s00397-005-0432-9
- 65. Santamaria-Holek I, Mendoza CI (2010) The rheology of concentrated suspensions of arbitrarily-shaped particles. J Colloid Interface Sci 346(1):118–126. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2010. 02.033
- 66. Barnes HA, Hutton JF, Walters K (1989) An introduction to rheology. Elsevier
- 67. Larson RG (1999) The structure and rheology of complex fluids. Oxford University Press, New-York. ISBN 9780195121971
- Tadros TF (2010) Rheology of dispersions. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. ISBN: 978-3-527-32003-5
- 69. Quemada D (2006) Modélisation Rhéologique Structurelle. Dispersions Concentrées et Fluides Complexes. Edition Tec & Doc Lavoisier, Paris

- Wu Q, Meng,YJ, Wang SQ, Li YJ, Fu SY, Ma LF, Harper D (2014) Rheological behavior of cellulose nanocrystal suspension: influence of concentration and aspect ratio. J Appl Polym Sci 131(15). doi:10.1002/app.40525
- Tucker KG, Thomas CR (1993) Effect of biomass concentration and morphology on the rheological parameters of Penicillium chryso-genurin fermentation broths. Trans Inst Chem Eng 71:111–117
- Riley GL, Tucker KG, Paul GC, Thomas C (2000) Effect of biomass concentration and mycelial morphology on fermentation broth rheology. Biotechnol Bioeng 68(2):160–172
- Petersen N, Stocks S, Gernaey K (2008) Multivariate models for prediction of rheological characteristics of filamentous fermentation broth from the size distribution. Biotechnol Bioeng 100(1):61–71
- Mohseni M, Allen DG (1995) The effect of particle morphology and concentration on the directly measured yield stress in filamentous suspensions. Biotechnol Bioeng 48:257–265
- 75. Hirata Y, Aoshima Y (1996) Formation and growth of cavern in yield stress fluids agitated under baffled and non-baffled conditions. Chem Eng Res Des 74(4):438–444
- Buscall R, Mills PDA, Stewart RF, Sutton D, White LR, Yates GE (1987) The rheology of strongly-flocculated suspensions. J Nonnewton Fluid Mech 24(2):183–202. doi:10.1016/0377-0257(87)85009-7
- 77. Dalpke B, Kerekes RJ (2005) The influence of fibre properties on the apparent yield stress of flocculated pulp suspensions. J Pulp Pap Sci 31(1):39–43
- Ehrhardt MR, Monz TO, Root TW, Connelly RK, Scott CT, Klingenberg DJ (2010) Rheology of dilute acid hydrolyzed corn stover at high solids concentration. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 160(4):1102–1115. doi:10.1007/s12010-009-8606-z
- Rosgaard L, Andric P, Dam-Johansen K, Pedersen S, Meyer AS (2007) Effects of substrate loading on enzymatic hydrolysis and viscosity of pretreated barley straw. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 143(1):27–40. doi:10.1007/s12010-007-0028-1
- 80. Fillaudeau L, Babau M, Cameleyre X, Lombard E, Anne-Archard D (2011) Libération de substrats fermentescibles à partir de matrices lignocellulosiques issues de l'industrie papetière. *Récents Progrès en Génie des Procédés* 101, Lavoisier Ed., Paris
- Roche CM, Dibble CJ, Knutsen JS, Stickel JJ, Liberatore MW (2009) Particle concentration and yield stress of biomass slurries during enzymatic hydrolysis at high-solids loadings. Biotechnol Bioeng 104:290–300